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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This study was undertaken to provide a contextual framework to improve understanding post World War i
and Modern Movement architecture and places in Central Sydney, which is a significant and integral
component of its architectural heritage.

Findings
. The study period (1945-1975) was an exciting and challenging era that determined much of the

present physical form of Central Sydney and resulted in outstanding architectural and civic
accomplishments.

. There were an unprecedented number of development projects undertaken during the study
period, which resulted in fundamental changes to the physical fabric and character of Central
Sydney.

. The buildings are an historical record of the changing role of Australia in an international context

and Sydney’s new-found role as a major world financial centre. Surviving buildings provide crucial
evidence of the economic and social circumstances of the study period.

. Surviving buildings record the adaptation of the Modern Movement to local conditions,
distinguishing them from Modern Movement buildings in other parts of the world.

. The overwhelming preponderance of office buildings, which distinguishes Central Sydney from all
other parts of NSW, is offset by the presence of other building typologies such as churches,
community buildings and cultural institutions. These often demonstrate architectural
accomplishment.

° The triumph of humane and rational urban planning can be seen in the creation of pedestrian-
friendly areas and civic spaces of great accomplishment such as Australia Square, Martin Place
and Sydney Square. The urban environment was enhanced by fine artworks and fountains,
initiated by the City of Sydney and the corporate sector.

. Some post World War Il and Modern Movement buildings and items have the benefit of heritage
listing. However, an extraordinarily large number have been demolished and many innovative
buildings of exceptional architectural quality have been lost in Central Sydney. Others have been
modified to an unrecognisable extent. This underscores the urgency of identification and
protection.

It is recommended that the following actions are undertaken to consolidate the findings and conclusions
of this study:

. Evidence suggests that there are several buildings and items that warrant consideration for
inclusion as heritage items in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. Recommendations are
included in Section 8 and Appendix A of this report;

. Review existing listings to take into account modifications that may have been undertaken since
the item was listed;

° Incorporate fountains and artworks into heritage listings where they are not included or not
identified as significant components of the item. Undertake a comparative survey of post World
War Il and Modern Movement artworks and fountains in Central Sydney, which should form the
basis for potential listing;
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Include provisions for post-war and Modern Movement heritage items in the future review of the
Development Control Plan;

Include special provisions for protecting artworks in the future review of the DCP;

Expand the study area to include areas around Central Sydney to provide a broader and more
comprehensive understanding of the scope and extent of post-war and Modern Movement
architecture in the City of Sydney.

Extend the study timeframe so that Modernist buildings constructed during the last quarter of the
20" century can be surveyed and assessed;

Encourage the retention of surviving retail and corporate signage;

Publicise in plain English the importance of the City of Sydney’s post-war and Modern Movement,
emphasising why it is important that it is retained and conserved;

Publish a self-guided walking tour of Modern Movement architecture and publicly accessible
artwork as part of the City of Sydney’s historical walking tours series;

Acquire publications and material for the City of Sydney Library that can be accessed by the
community to assist in conserving the buildings.

14 items have been identified during the preparation of this study that warrant consideration for listing in
Schedule 5 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012:

Berger House, 82-88 Elizabeth Street;

Christie Centre, 3 Spring Street;

Domain Parking Station, Sir John Young Crescent;

Former Horwitz House, 398-402 Sussex Street;

Former Liverpool & London & Globe Insurance Company Building, 62 Pitt Street;
Former Sydney County Council Building, 570 George Street;
Masonic Centre, 279-283 Castlereagh Street;

MLC Centre, 19-35 Martin Place;

Phillip Park Play Sculpture;

St Peter Julian’s Church, 637-645 George Street, Haymarket;
Standard Chartered House, 1-7 Castlereagh Street;

Supreme Court Hospital Road Court Complex, 10 Macquarie Street;
Town Hall House, 456 Kent Street; and

William Bland Centre, 229-231 Macquarie Street.

Inventories for the items are appended to this report.
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1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose of the report

The purpose of this study is provide a contextual framework that improves understanding of the various
architectural styles that make up post World War Il and Modern Movement buildings and places in Central
Sydney. The findings of the study are intended to guide development so that these resources and their
heritage significance are appropriately managed and protected.

1.2 Background information

1.3 Methodology
The following methodology was used for the study:

° Analysis and review of background studies and reports on post World War Il and Modern
Movement heritage resources in Central Sydney;

° Analysis of published primary and secondary source material including books, journals and
newspapers that contain information on post World War Il and Modern Movement architecture in
Sydney;

° Further research as required on the study period in Central Sydney and specific post World War |l
and Modern Movement items;

° Inspection of the study area to understand the extent of, and to identify, potential post World War |l
and Modern Movement items for further investigation;

° Preparation of a contextual overview and description of the historic development of post World
War Il and Modern Movement architecture;

° Summary of extant post World War 1| Modern Movement and related items in Central Sydney in the
form of a concise table; and

° Preparation of inventory sheets for 14 nominated post World War Il and Modern Movement
heritage resources which warrant consideration for listing on Schedule 5 of Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012. This was done in two stages, initially for 12 items and an additional four
as a second stage. The number was finalised at 14 because a small number of items either did not
meet the threshold for listing or have been deleteriously modified since the inventories were first
prepared.

1.4 Study area

The study area consists of Central Sydney, identified in Figure 1. Peripheral items very close to the study
area have been included in the report, to provide greater understanding of the extent and scope of
Modern Movement influence in the City of Sydney.

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects January 2018 e Issue C 1
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Figure 1 Study Area, not to scale.
Source: City of Sydney.
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1.5 Heritage listings

There are a number of post-World War Il and Modern Movement items in the City of Sydney included in
the NSW Heritage Council’s State Heritage Register and the City of Sydney Local Environmental Plan
2012. These items are summarised in the following table.

State Heritage Register

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

AMP Building, 33 Alfred Street

Art Gallery of NSW including 1971 wing, 2B Art
Gallery Road

Australia Square including Tower, Plaza Building,
Forecourt and Plaza, 264-278 George Street/87-95
Pitt Street

Australian Museum including 1963 Wiliam Street
wing, 6 College Street

Chifley Square

Christie Wright Memorial Fountain (included in
listing for Macquarie Place Precinct)

Christie Wright Memorial Fountain (included in the
listing for Macquarie Place)

Circular Quay Railway Station Group

Circular Quay Railway Station

Commonwealth Bank Market Street
sculpture, 423-427 George Street

including

Liner House, 13-15 Bridge Street

Liner House, including interiors and Douglas
Annand Mural Screen, 13-15A Bridge Street

Martin Place Railway Station

Martin Place Railway Station

Qantas House, 68-96 Hunter Street

(Former) Qantas House, 68-96 Hunter Street

Reserve Bank Building, 65 Martin Place

Sydney Opera House, Circular Quay East

Opera House and Environs

Sydney Square Plaza, George Street

Former Sydney Water Head Office, 339-341 Pitt
Street — includes 1965 extensions.

Tank Stream Fountain, Herald Square

Wentworth Hotel, 2 Bligh Street/61-101 Phillip
Street

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects
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1.6 Author identification
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1.8 Limitations
Inspection of privately owned buildings was limited to their exteriors.

1.9 Definitions

The core timeframe for the study extends between 1945 to the mid-1970s. Social and political
circumstances in the early 1970s caused a shift in planning and attitudes towards development in Central
Sydney, and architectural trends emerging in the 1960s reached maturity through the 1970s. However,
the architectural precursors of the 1930s are briefly examined as a prelude to the post-war period, while
some architecture from the late 1970s and early 1980s is also discussed because Modern Movement
architecture did not just fade away; it has remained a source of inspiration for designers right up to the
present day.

Dates applied to buildings relate to the time that a development and/or building application was lodged
with Council, which provides a guide as to the period in which it was designed prior to lodgement.
Buildings erected for state and federal government instrumentalities did not necessarily follow the protocol
of lodgement for Council consent so dates for a number of these buildings are approximate.

1.10 Abbreviations
The following abbreviations have been used in this report:

BA Building Application

CSA City of Sydney Archives

DA Development Application

FSR Floor space ratio

HOBAC Height of Buildings Advisory Committee
NAA National Archives of Australia

RAIA Royal Australian Institute of Architects
SLNSW State Library of NSW

SHR State Heritage Register

TKDA Tanner Kibble Denton Architects
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2 DEFINING THE MODERN MOVEMENT

The Modern Movement is one of the most significant and far-reaching twentieth century design aesthetics.
Its architecture was founded on the philosophies and practice of progressive and innovative European
architects working from the first decade of the twentieth century through to the 1930s. There were several
avant-garde movements associated with the fine arts and architecture in this period, such as Futurism in
[taly, Constructivism in Russia, Expressionism and the Bauhaus school of design in Germany and De Stijl
in The Netherlands. In various ways these designers endeavoured to rethink how architecture should
respond to, and reflect, rapidly changing social conditions and advancing industrialisation. European
architects were also influenced by what was happening in America, manifested in areas as diverse as the
work of Frank Lloyd Wright's architecture, its commercial skyscrapers and its impressive industrial
buildings and silos."

European architects saw themselves as agents of reform, and many were concerned that architecture and
planning should provide a more humane and equable environment for people — advanced modern design
was thought to have the capacity to improve people through their living and working environment and thus
contribute to social reform. This was most evidently demonstrated by carefully designed public housing
projects built in Germany and other parts of Europe

Characteristics of this pioneering phase of Modern Movement architecture included geometric forms that
were intended to look as though they could have been machine-made and a preference for “skeletal”
forms, that is, framed systems rather than monolithic masonry that enabled open planning and
encouraged transparency. There was a tendency to celebrate the potential of new building materials such
as reinforced concrete, glass and steel. Buildings were intended to be seen as free-standing objects,
tended to be asymmetrical rather than symmetrical in plan and mass and internal functions were clearly
expressed on the outside. Ornament was largely abandoned and the appearance of wall surfaces, careful
use of colour and sun shading devices were thought sufficient to provide visual interest, although murals
were sometimes integrated into coherent decorative schemes. Modern Movement architects rejected
traditional historical styles and asserted that architecture must be contemporary in character.

Certain aspects of Modern Movement architecture such as lightweight construction techniques using
modular building components, modern building materials and flexible planning aided by framed building
construction were interpreted as the essence of Modern Movement architecture and labelled the
“International Style” after a 1932 exhibition at the Museum of Modern Art in New York. However, the
functional and social concermns of European Modern Movement architects were largely ignored.

From the 1920s to the mid-1960s there was an optimistic belief that industrial technology, applied
rationally to architecture and urbanism, would produce a much better world. After World War Il Modern
Movement architecture spread across the world and became an optimistic expression of post-war
recovery - a paradigm of progress towards a better future. Influential European architects such as Walter
Gropius, Mies van der Rohe and Marcel Breuer had moved to America because of the rise of Nazism in
Germany in the 1930s. Their influence on American design and architectural education had a profound
influence on the Modern Movement, which by the 1950s had become corporate, sleek, and ultimately
formulaic — exemplified by the tall office building clad in taut aluminium and glass curtain walls. An
exuberant, futuristic and popular commercial offshoot of the Modern Movement emerged in America at

' For the influence of industrial building and silos on European architects see Reyner Banham, A Concrete Atlantis: US

industrial building and European modern architecture, MIT Press, 1986.
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the end of the 1940s. It has become known as Googie, named after an innovative Los Angeles coffee

shop, and featured expressive geometric structures, flowing spaces, and the latest building materials.”

Figure 2 1920s Modern Movement architecture in Germany: apartments by Mies van der Rohe (left)
and row houses by Dutch architect J P Oud at the Weissenhofsiedlung, Stuttgart, 1927.
Source: Roy Lumby.

]

Figure 3 Two strands of post World War Il Modern Movement architecture in America: Pietro
Belluschi’s corporate 1947 Equitable Building in Portland, Oregon (left) and the Googie
architecture of Martin Stern Jr’s Ship’s Coffee Shop in Los Angeles, 1958.
Sources: Hassan-Uddin Kahn, International Style, p.123 (Equitable Building);
http://blogs.smithsonianmag.com/paleofuture/2012/06/googie-architecture-of-the-space-
age/ (Ship’s).

2 Alan Hess, Googie Redux: ultramodern roadside architecture (San Francisco, 2004), pp.68, 178.
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There were other less doctrinaire forms of Modern Movement architecture. For instance, the Modernist

brick buildings of Dutch architect Willem Dudok were influential in England and Australia. So was the so-
called New Empiricism, which followed Scandinavian examples where Modern Movement structural
concepts and planning were integrated with local building materials and characteristics.’

Figure 4 Willem Dudok’s Town Hall at Hilversum (left), completed in 1931, exemplifies the interplay
of solid masses in his work. The Sulman-winning University House at the Australian National
University (right) was designed by Professor Brian Lewis and officially opened in 1954. It
demonstrates the soft, aimost vernacular Modernism of New Empiricism.
Sources: Oliver Hill, Fair Horizon: buildings of to-day, p.100 (Hilversum); Roy Lumby
(University House).

In NSW the influence of European Modern Movement architecture began to appear during the 1930s,
once building started to pick up as the Depression eased. A large number of young architects and
graduate students travelled abroad to work, mostly in England, and study. Here they started learning
about the Modern Movement from the more adventurous English architectural practices where they
worked. From Britain they could travel to Europe and experience the advanced work of Modern
Movement architects at first hand. Amongst the architects who travelled to Britain and Europe and
became prominent in the promotion of Modern Movement architecture in NSW were Sidney Ancher,
Arthur Baldwinson, Walter Bunning and Morton Herman.* As well, established architects were alerted to
overseas trends through reading journals and books. Sydney-based journals such as Building and
Decoration and Glass published photographs and descriptions of buildings from all parts of Australia as
well as examples from overseas, thus informing Sydney’s architects of the cutting-edge work being
constructed in Melbourne and other centres. Numerous specialised books and journals were readily
available here soon after publication in Britain, Europe and America - about the time it took for a ship to
reach port.

An important emerging influence came from the influx of architects from Europe during the late 1930s,
refugees from the upheaval accompanying the rise of Nazism in Germany. They brought first-hand
experience of Modern Movement architecture that was backed by university qualifications, and in some
cases experience gained through established practices.

% http://blogs.smithsonianmag.com/paleofuture/2012/06/googie-architecture-of-the-space-age, accessed 8 October
2018.

“ David Saunders, “ “... So | decided to go overseas’ ”, Architecture Australia, Volume66 Number 1:22-28,
February/March 1977.
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The work of important local practitioners such as Sidney Ancher and Arthur Baldwinson was augmented
in 1948 with the arrival of the pivotal Modern Movement architect Harry Seidler (1923-2006) from America.
Seidler had studied and worked with European luminaries such as Walter Gropius and Marcel Breuer. The
house he designed and built for his mother (the Rose Seidler House), transported European Modernism
directly to Sydney via the USA and was an immediate sensation. Seidler was instrumental in persuading
Gropius to visit Australia as a keynote speaker at the important Fourth Australian Architectural Convention,

which was staged in Sydney in 1954. Other migrant architects of note whose work is represented in
Central Sydney are Hans Peter Oser (1913-1967) and Hugo Stossel (1905-2002), who both studied
architecture in Vienna and arrived in Australia in 1938.

Figure 5 The 1950 Julian Rose House was one of two other houses designed by Harry Seidler near
the Rose Seidler House. It exemplifies his uncompromising approach to architecture and
skill at exploiting structure (left). Seidler was also played an important part in the Fourth
Australian Architectural Convention, where amongst other things delegates could examine
a model of the University of Sydney as envisaged by final year students (right).

Source: SLNSW, PXD 720/13, Max Dupain photograph (Julian Rose House); NAA, Image
no. 1805, CUB0/1 (Architectural Convention).

Whilst houses influenced by Harry Seidler and tall office buildings influenced by latest American practice
began proliferating in Sydney during the 1950s, young architects began to explore a local version of the
Modern Movement. Although commonly called the Sydney School, it was more an expression of shared
beliefs and took on board aspects of Modern Movement design such as open planning, response to
sunlight and fresh air, and honest structural expression. Reference was made to wider sources such as
Frank Lloyd Wright’s architecture, traditional Japanese architecture, and the work of highly influential
Finnish architect Alvar Aalto. Their work also shared affinities with regional architecture of the American
West Coast, where from the mid-1930s architects had turned to local building materials and construction
techniques. These architects made great use of commonly used materials, integrated buildings with their
settings and responded to climatic conditions. Initially associated with houses, the style spread to
community and public architecture.

The spare minimalism of the Modern Movement became more expressive during the 1950s. Some
architects delighted in exploiting the structural potential of materials such as reinforced concrete and
created highly expressive buildings that provided users and visitors with dramatic forms and spaces. In
many ways the Sydney Opera House epitomises this strand of the Modern Movement. Significantly, the
building would not have been fully realised without extensive use of newly emerging computer technology.
It was a harbinger of design methodology to come.
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Figure 6 In NSW churches provided a fertile ground for experimenting with the expressive structural
potential of concrete and other materials. Striking examples of this include St Bernard’s
Catholic Church at Botany, designed by Kevin Curtin in 1954 (left) and St Kevin’s Catholic
Church at Dee Why, designed by Gibbons & Gibbons circa 1958 (right).
Source: Roy Lumby.

At the same time another strand of the Modern Movement emerged in England and was adopted by
Australian architects during the 1960s. Termed Brutalism, it was influenced by English architects Peter
and Alison Smithson, who aimed for a socially responsible architecture that was not ashamed of
expressing materials, structure and services. Brutalism was also strongly influenced by the work of Le
Corbusier, an important pioneering French Modern Movement architect whose work matured during the
1920s and was responsible for powerful concrete architecture after World War Il. When Brutalism reached
NSW in the 1960s it was appropriated for large-scaled commercial, educational and civic buildings.

Figure 7 lan McKay’s 1972 commercial building at 163 Brougham Street, Potts Point (left) is a rare
example both of the Sydney School and Sydney School commercial architecture close to
Central Sydney. The City of Sydney has a number of fine examples of Brutalist architecture,
such as the buildings within the Engineering Precinct at the University of Sydney,
constructed between 1960 and 1975. Many were designed by the prominent firm Ancher
Mortlock & Murray (later to become Ancher, Mortlock, Murray & Woolley).
Source: CSA, CRS Woolloomooloo photo collection: 62670 (163 Brougham Street); TKDA
(Engineering Precinct).
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3 SOCIAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

3.1 Background

The three decades from 1945 to 1974 are identified as the Long Boom, a period that witnessed rapid
population growth, economic development and physical expansion. The period was one of relative
political stability and conservatism but became more unsettled as the 1960s drew to a close and people
started reacting adversely to minimally controlled development and unchallenged exploitation of the built
and natural environment.

Population growth was affected by several factors — in the post-war era people married younger, fewer
people remained unmarried and fertility rates rose. The famous post-war baby boom was augmented by
low mortality rates, augmented by the construction of numerous baby health centres across the state.
Federal government policy encouraged migration, which boosted population growth, met demands for
scarce labour and boosted demand for housing along with consumer goods.® As the 1950s moved into
the 1960s, the proportion of younger people in the population increased. Suburbia grew and consolidated
as the population of Central Sydney, and the City of Sydney generally, shrank.

In general terms economic growth was bolstered by the development of manufacturing that was boosted
by inflows of capital from Britain and particularly from the USA. Manufacturing expanded to meet local
consumer demand. Industrial concerns enjoyed the benefits of tariff protection and were encouraged by
state governments, while transnational corporations increasingly took a dominant economic role. The era
was one of unprecedentedly high employment, which faltered during the 1970s. However, even the good
times were punctuated by recessions, which occurred in the years 1957-1958, 1961-1962 and 1965-
1966.

3.2 Living and working in the city
In the post-war era Australia’s cities settled into a distinctive form,

... a vast spatial frontier that encouraged low residential densities and, by the late 1960s, highly
built-up urban centres like those of Sydney and Melbourne almost entirely devoid of residential
population ... there is no doubt that the hearts of all Australian cities by 1970 were in essence
central business districts, representing the modernist triumph of the wholly functionalised or
zoned city.°

Metropolitan Sydney continued to be the largest city in Australia over the study period, a place it had held
since the 1890s. Commercial activity was concentrated within Central Sydney. However, in this regard it
was definitely in second place as Melbourne held pride of place as the nation’s financial capital. However,
Sydney could boast about the headquarters of several significant commercial institutions, such as the
Commonwealth Bank, the Bank of New South Wales and the Australian Mutual Provident Society, and its
status was enhanced at the beginning of the 1960s when it became home to the Reserve Bank of
Australia.

By the second half of the 1960s Central Sydney contained most of the metropolis’ theatres, cinemas,
clubs, assembly halls and a large number of its restaurants, which were largely in the southermn section of
the city. However, Kings Cross to the east contained numerous restaurants, clubs cafes and hotels as
well as a large and concentrated residential population. Educational institutions such as Sydney Technical

® Clive Forster, Australian Cities: continuity and change, p.15.
© Hannah Lewi and David Nichols (editors), Community: building modern Australia, p.7.
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College, the University of Technology (then the NSW Institute of Technology) and the University of Sydney
extended from its southern tip westward. Port activity in Darling Harbour and Pyrmont-Ultimo made an
impact because of the commercial activity and traffic it generated. Central Sydney also faced growing
competition from North Sydney, which was in the process of being transformed into a major business
centre in its own right.”

Manufacturing and related activities in the City of Sydney were located on the periphery of Central Sydney,
in Surry Hills and Chippendale but even this situation was changing. For instance, Toohey’s Ltd decided
to close its Standard Brewery in Surry Hills near Central in the early 1970s and finally shut it down in 1978,
while the City Markets were relocated to Flemington in 1975.

In Central Sydney work was dominated by commerce and retailing - commerce accounted for about 20%
of all of metropolitan Sydney’s employment in the early post-war period and 33% by the 1970s. The
largest employer was the retailing sector but at the 1961 census office employment was dominant and
considered the most critical area employment for future growth. Clerical workers outnumbered
administrative, executive, managerial and professional workers by almost two to one. But the overall
situation had changed since World War Il. Then, around 30% of the workforce in the County of
Cumberland was employed in Central Sydney. By 1961 it only accounted for 22%, although total
employment had risen by about 17,000 over the period.®* Numbers continued to decline — down to 18% in
1966 and 15% in 1971.°

Commerce and the professions were located in specific areas of Central Sydney. The legal and medical
professions congregated around the courts and Sydney Hospital — in Macquarie and Phillip Streets. Even
then, from around 1960 professionals, particularly those practicing medicine, were starting to disperse into
the suburbs. Those involved with the law tended to stay put.'® Wentworth Chambers in Phillip Street
(completed in 1957), designed for and occupied by barristers, was amongst the earlier post-war buildings
constructed in Central Sydney, and at the end of the 1960s the University of Sydney built its Law School
in King Street right in the midst of the legal precinct rather than on its Camperdown or Darlington
campuses.

Before World War Il the location of retailing in Central Sydney shifted to take advantage of the construction
of the underground railway. There was still a chain of major stores extending from Circular Quay to
Broadway,'" but the most concentrated shopping opportunities were located along Market and Liverpool
Streets. Suburbanisation of retailing in the post-war era led to its decline in Central Sydney and many
department stores - McDowell’s, Bebarfald’s, Anthony Hordern’s and the upmarket Beard Watson, to
name a few - which had been such a prominent feature of interwar Sydney, closed their doors for the last
time."? The “retall magnet” contracted to the area bounded by King, Park, Elizabeth and George Streets.™

The most intense development in Central Sydney took place in the “golden square mile”, extending from
Circular Quay to Martin Place and from Macquarie Street to George Street." Commercial activity initially
consolidated in the vicinity of Circular Quay. The most prominent institution involved in this was the

" Sydney Region: growth and change, p.53.

® Sydney Region: growth and change, p.55.

 Maurice T Daly, Sydney Boom, Sydney Bust: the city and its property market, 1850-1981, p.37.

% Spearritt, p.131

" Howard Wolfers, “The big stores between the wars”, in Jill Roe (editor), Twentieth Century Sydney: studies in urban &
social history, pp.28-31.

"2 Peter Spearritt, Sydney Since the Twenties, pp.128-129

'3 Sydney Region: growth & change, p.41.

' “Bank of Adelaide moves with the times”, Building, Lighting and Engineering, January 1967, p.38.
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insurance industry. The banks constructed few major buildings until the 1960s, when they were located in
the area between Hunter Street and Martin Place. The various shipping lines clustered in the vicinity of
Circular Quay, though were tending to move southwards towards Hunter Street. Several built impressive
and even exceptional headquarters. The airlines, newcomers to the Sydney scene, were generally located
between Hunter and King Street. Although most were represented by office or commercial tenancies,
Qantas was responsible for major development at Chifley Square and later Lang Park.  However,
increasingly buildings were constructed for investment purposes to house the needs of a multiple tenants
rather than those of a major business concern or corporation.

Central Sydney was the scene of the country’s most frantic construction boom from the middle of the
1960s onwards. Apart from planning and political influences, discussed below, there were other factors at
work. According to geographer Dr Maurice Daly,

“The underlying cause of the interest in sites for office buildings was Sydney’s rise as a financial
centre in line with the structural changes then taking place in the Australian economy. During
the 1960s, rural products accounted for two-thirds of Australia’s exports; but by the mid-1970s
they had fallen to below one-half, while mineral exports had risen above one-third of the total.
The prospect of continuing reliance on mineral exports, the discovery of new mineral deposits,
and the heavy investment costs involved in mining created both the stockmarket boom of the
late 1960s and the emergence of a large number of financial intermediaries in Sydney.
Financiers, mineral company headquarters, accountants, lawyers, consultants and other

technical and specialist services generated a vibrant demand for office space.”™®

Sydney became an important link in the chain of cities that controlled much of the world’s financial and
corporate affairs but was most closely tied to London. British companies, particularly insurance
companies, found Australian cities a source of great investment potential. They accounted for the
construction of more new office buildings between 1957 and 1966 than local developers and financial
institutions. The numbers were impressive — between 1958 and 1976 210 buildings were constructed in

Central Sydney, of which 84 were built from 1971 onwards."®

Built between
1955 & 1966

Built after 1967

METRES

Figure 8 Diagram showing locations of office buildings constructed between 1955 and 1975.
Source: Daly, p.41.

"® Daly, p.38.
'® Daly, pp.43-46.
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3.3 State government, the City Council and planning

It's probably fair to say that the City of Sydney has never been free of the yoke of New South Wales’
Government. From the time of its incorporation as a municipality in 1842 down to the present day the
City’s powers have been curbed and curtailed by Macquarie Street. A succession of State governments
has at various times adjusted boundaries to gain political advantages and the City of Sydney grew and
then contracted dramatically during the study period. Central Sydney was at the core of this process.

A Labor government ruled NSW from May 1941 until May 1965, when a coalition of the Liberal and
Country Parties led by Robin Askin was elected. The Liberals were replaced by Labor under Neville Wran
in May 1976."" Concurrently, the City of Sydney was led by Civic Reform between 1940 and 1948, then
by Labor between 1949 and 1967. The Council was sacked by the Askin Government in November
1967 and replaced by three commissioners, who remained in power until September 1969. Civic Reform
was returned to power and stayed there from 1969 until1987, when the State government dismissed it.

When Labor returned to office in 1941 Premier McKell “intimated his intention to revive the Greater Sydney
Bill.”"® This was based on an initiative dating to the early twentieth century, meeting with defeat when
introduced to parliament in the early 1930s. The resuscitated bill was delayed because of the war but in
June 1945 a royal commission was appointed to reorganise local government boundaries. The
commission followed the passage of a Town and Country Planning Bill amending the Local Government
Act in April 1945, which allowed shire and municipal councils to prepare town and country planning
schemes. Assistance was provided by committees and qualified planners and schemes ultimately
approved by the Minister for Local Government. The Act also provided for the preparation of a planning
scheme for the County of Cumberland.?® The newly formed Cumberland County Council presented its
scheme to the Minister for Local Government, J J Canhill, on 27 July 1948.2' After a lengthy period of
amendment the Cumberland Planning Scheme officially came into operation on 27 July 1951.%

Perhaps more significantly for the City of Sydney, the passage of the Local Government (Areas) Act in
1948 enabled the extension of the city’s municipal boundaries to incorporate the surrounding
municipalities of Alexandria, Darlinghurst, Erskineville, Glebe, Newtown, Paddington, Redfern and
Waterloo, all characterised by Labor-voting, low income-earning residents. A Labor Party majority in
Council was the inevitable outcome of the next election. It held sway for the next 19 years.

" Labor premiers in this period were: William McKell (May 1941 to February 1947); James McGirr (February 1947 to
April 1952); John Cahill (April 1952 to October 1959); Robert Heffron (October 1959 to April 1964); and John
Renshaw (April 1964 to May 1965). Liberal premiers were: Robin Askin (May 1965 to January 1975); Thomas Lewis
(January 1975 to January 1976); and Eric Willis (January 1976 to May 1976). Neville Wran was premier between May
1976 and July 1986.

'® It was the third time this had happened. The first dismissal took place in 1853 and the second in 1927. The fourth
occurred in 1987.

'° Spearritt, p.177.

0 | ocal Government (Town and Country Planning) Amendment Act (Act No 21, 1945), Division 8 — Scheme for the
County of Cumberland

& “Sydney’s Master Plan Ready”, Sydney Morning Herald, 28 July 1948, p.3.The Council consisted of 10 members —
one representing the City of Sydney and nine elected by constituencies of from five to 12 local councils (Spearritt,
p.185).

22 «County Plan to be Set in Motion”, Sydney Morning Herald, 26 July 1951, p.2.
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Figure 9 The boundaries of the City of Sydney before and after the amalgamation of inner local
government areas in 1948.
Source: CSA Historic Map Collections — City Boundaries and Wards, 1842-2004.

On the planning front, the City Engineer’'s Department submitted a Land Use Zoning Scheme in October
1947 for Council’'s approval, which was submitted the following year for incorporation into the
Cumberland Planning Scheme but not accepted.

The City Council prepared its first, interim plan in 1948, which it intended to finalise through the City
Planning and Improvement Committee. The plan was conceived as a method of preventing industrial
development moving into residential areas and circumventing economically “unsound” development in
“obsolete areas.”” In October 1948 Council approved the formation of a Town Planning Branch in the City
Engineer’s Department. Administration of planning in Council prior to 1972 was divided between the City
Engineer (strategic planning) and the City Building Surveyor (development control).

A draft planning scheme was finally exhibited in November 1952. There were four basic principles:

° Zoning, which separated commerce, industry, residences and open space;
° Controls over development in Central Sydney;

° Alleviation of traffic congestion; and

o Provision of open space and amenities.*

% paul Ashton, The Accidental City: planning Sydney since 1788, pp.68 and 75. According to Ashton, the floor space
ratio met with more opposition than any other part of the planning scheme.
2 “Central Sydney Plan Would Alter Skyline”, Sydney Morning Herald, 26 May 1953, p.2.
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Under the planning scheme,

“Central Sydney has been zoned mainly for business, retail trading, and administrative activities.

The business centre extends from Dawes Point to Martin Place and from Macquarie Street to
the east side of Kent Street. The central shopping area is bounded by Martin Place, Central
Railway Station, Elizabeth Street, the east side of Kent Street, and both sides of upper George
Street.

The western side of the central city, from the western side of Kent Street to darling Harbour, has
been defined as an industrial area. Apart from this zone, industry will be dispersed from the city
centre. ...

A second important feature of the city planning scheme is the control of building bulk in central
Sydney.

The City Council has decided that the central city can expand by one-third and no more. To do
this, it has adopted a floor-space index and ratio first devised in Great Britain by the town-
planners Professor W G Holford and DR C H Holden. They recommended the use of this
formula in their 1947 report, “Reconstruction in the City of London.” .

This formula would apply to all new building activity in the area between Circular Quay, Darling
Harbour, Goulburn Street, and Hyde Park, but reconstruction of buildings damaged by war, fire,

lightning, storm, or accident would be exempt.”*

The floor space ratio (FSR) was effectively a maximum of 10:1. Other features of the scheme included a
traffic distribution system linked to the Cumberland County Council’s scheme, and a proposed civic
centre at the southern end of Hyde Park. It met with concerted and immediate opposition - 550
objections alone were received almost immediately after the scheme was released.” It was ultimately
withdrawn and a second scheme was submitted to the Minister for Local Government in 1958 but
because of inaction at state level was not placed on exhibition until 1964. This followed the establishment
of the State Planning Authority the previous year,” which replaced the Cumberland County Council. It was
disbanded because of factors such as unanticipated population growth and conflicts with government
departments.

% “Central Sydney Plan Would Alter Skyline.”

% “Master Plan for City”, Sydney Morning Herald, 2 April 1953, p.2.

" Andrew Briger, “The Politics of Planning: the 1971 City of Sydney Strategic Plan” in Peter Webber (editor) The
Planning of Sydney: three decades of change in the city centre, p.36; Golder, p.113.
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Figure 10 Model of the civic centre at the southern end of Hyde Park.
Source: CSA SRC8160.

A statutory control on the height of buildings in the Metropolitan Police District of Sydney was established
in 1912, restricting it to 150 feet (45.72 metres). Nevertheless, the consent of the Government Architect,
along with certification from the Fire Commissioners of NSW, was required for anything over 100 feet
(30.48 metres).”® . The Act was amended in 1952 in some important ways - it applied to a wider part of
the state and height was restricted to 80 feet “unless the skyline and the plans of such building have been
approved by the Minister.”* Height was still capped at 150 feet.

However, the 1952 Act was destined to be short-lived. It was rendered obsolete by Act No 12, 1957,
which modified the statutory height restriction, extensively defined building height and widened the powers
of the Minister to approve heights greater than 150 feet by the introduction of FSR. The new Act
established an eleven member Height of Buildings Advisory Committee (HOBAC), which included an
architect from the Public Works Department, the City Building Surveyor and a nominee of the NSW
Chapter of the Royal Australian Institute of Architect. It also provided for a six member Height of Buildings
Advisory Panel, consisting of two architects, two engineers and two town planners. * Although Council’s
revised 1958 planning scheme did not include a maximum FSR, HOBAC established a maximum ratio of
12:1.%

An indication of broadening interest in planning is suggested by the Sydney City and Metropolitan
Development Association, which was formed in 1960 by a number of businessmen. It was intended to
organise the resources of private enterprise in support of local government, state government and town
planning authorities to assist in the redevelopment of the city. The Association’s charter included
promotion of Sydney’s economic, social, cultural and aesthetic achievements and planning redevelopment
through central business district and metropolitan area master planning.*” The outcomes of its endeavours
have not been ascertained.

28 Height of Buildings (Metropolitan Police District) Act (Act No. 58, 1912), Clause4(1)(a) and(b).
% Height of Buildings (Amendment Act (Act No. 3, 1952), Clause 4(1)(@) and (o).

% Height of Buildings (Amendment) Act (Act No. 12, 1957)

" Hilary Golder, Sacked: removing and remaking the Sydney City Council 1853-1988, p.140.
% Cross-section, Issue 96, October 1 1960.
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In August 1965 the State government repealed Schedule 7 of the Local Government Act, which paved the
way for mixed commercial and residential development in the city. There was a flood of development
applications from eager developers, not many of which seem to have proceeded.*

Against this background the demography, and thus the rate base, of the City of Sydney was changing.
Notwithstanding the major realignment of electoral boundaries in 1949, during the 1950s and 1960s
commercial and financial power consolidated in Central Sydney while the population in the ring of inner
city suburbs declined, due in part to rising incomes and a preference for life in suburbia but also a
tendency towards smaller households and for industry to move out of these localities.** Population in the
City declined from 190,103 in 1954 to 159,188 in 1966.

The readjusted boundaries were used as a weapon by the Civic Reform Association, which had been
formed in January 1921 by citizens and ratepayers in response to the Labor Party’s growing influence in
the affairs of Sydney:

“... the pre-1949 boundaries still made political and economic sense; they contained Sydney’s
commercial-financial district and its leading cultural institutions as well as the political and
administrative nerve centre of the state ... this relatively small area constituted the ‘true city’, a

metropolitan centre that had nothing in common with the needy municipalities tacked onto it.”*

The Civic Reform Association argued that Central Sydney was inequably “bankrolling” the Council. The
money it contributed was providing community facilities instead of off-street parking and road works to
facilitate private sector development. However, Labor’s adjustments of ward boundaries ensured ongoing
victories at election time. The newly elected Liberal state government of 1965 supported contracting the
boundaries, but it was not achieved until it gained control of both houses of parliament in 1967.

The State government accused the City Council of privileging residents at the expense of progress and
development in Central Sydney. Yet the Council was far from being anti-development, and the city had
enjoyed a boom since 1957, when the 150 feet height limit of 1912 had been lifted. The construction
boom was allied to “structural changes in the Australian economy, especially Sydney’s emergence as a
financial centre, pushed up the demand for city office space as an influx of British capital made funds

available to developers.”®

At the end of the day the combined efforts of the State government, the Civic Reform Association
(supported by planners with overseas experience and qualifications) and the development lobby led to the
dismissal of the Council on 13 November 1967. The following day it was replaced by three
commissioners, who redefined the City of Sydney’s boundaries - Glebe and Paddington were excised and
from the City of Sydney and the South Sydney local government area was formed, coming into effect on 1
August 1968 - and took over its powers relating to development applications. It was not a happy situation.
According to influential planner George Clarke,

“The boom mounted to a crescendo by 1969. It was in that iniquitous period of 1967-69 that
the city was allowed to continue to run totally out of control — totally without any overall

% Cross-section, Issue 156, October 1 1965 and Issue 157, November 1 1965.
% Golder, p.100.

% Golder, p.101.

% Golder, pp.119-122.
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management whatsoever. The Commissioners seemed to approve whatever was put in front of
»37

them by the City Building Surveyor.

Consents certainly rose sharply — from 24 in 1967 to 38 in 1968 to 103 in 1969. The commissioners were
working with the Council’s 1958 planning scheme, which was finally exhibited in 1965. A draft ordinance
accompanying the scheme included a maximum FSR of 10:1 for the central business district to the east of
Kent Street but allowed bonuses such as provisions of open space and pedestrian access to take the
maximum FSR up to 12:1.%® Despite subsequent review, recommendations to reduce FSRs and a State
Planning Authority directive to implement the alternative system it had devised, the draft scheme and
ordinance continued to regulate development. The result of the State Planning Authority’s directive was
the crescendo of development applications in 1969.

The commissioners were replaced by a Civic Reform Council in September 1969, which remained in office
until 1987. One of its first achievements was The City of Sydney Strategic Plan, released in July 1971.
Civic Reform “had no philosophical or other commitment to planning: its primary constituency was the
City’s financial, manufacturing and retailing interests.”* However, two of its newer members, engineer Leo
Port and architect Andrew Briger, were able to convince the executive to place planning and urban
renewal on Civic Reform’s platform, and a Planning Committee was formed in 1967. After Civic Reform
came to power planner George Clarke’s consultancy firm, Urban Systems Corporation, was engaged to
prepare a report on a strategic plan for Sydney, which led to a commission for a strategic master plan in
December 1969. Two other consultancies were also involved.

The Strategic Plan, which was adopted by Council in August 1971, contained 16 major policies that dealt
with the economic, social and physical environment of the city. The City of Sydney was divided into 33
precincts, each with "some community of interest,"*° to allow detailed planning and management. Its long-
term objective for Central Sydney was to "restrict and contain the sprawl of office development within the
core or central spine of the city, to restrict and discourage traffic into the congested city other than that
which had business there and to encourage and promote peripheral parking and seek an equitable
balance between the pedestrian and road user.""' Another innovation was historic preservation. A
preservation policy identified 178 buildings or places deemed to be of architectural and historic
significance and the mechanism of transferrable floor space was introduced to help protect them. The
Plan aimed to make Sydney a more humane and civilised place. In some ways the Strategic Plan
mirrored post-war European planning practice, which embraced car-free spaces and pedestrianisation of
shopping and civic places

Perhaps ironically, the release of the Strategic Plan was accompanied by the final gazettal of the City of
Sydney Planning Scheme, which was essentially concerned with land use zoning and considered to be
obsolete. The Planning Scheme had statutory force. While the Strategic Plan did not, in December 1971
Council approved the associated Development Control Code and Floor Space Ratio Code. It included a
range of permissible ratios, dependent on the location of a site, and offered a suite of bonuses that could
raise the ratio to a maximum of 12.5:1 Bonuses included public facilities to offset the density of
development that the ratios generated - things such as plazas, though-site links and retail frontages. They

 Golder, p.127, quoting Paul Ashton, Planning Sydney: nine planners remember, p.42.

% This may reflect the precedent of overseas codes such as the 1961 New York zoning code, which encouraged the
formation of pedestrian plazas in front of new buildings.

89 Ashton, p.91.

“© Andrew Briger, "The Politics of Planning: the 1971 City of Sydney Strategic Plan”, in Peter Webber (editor), The
Design of Sydney: three decades of change in the city centre, p.37.

“T Webber, p.37.
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also came into play where a desirable use in a precinct such as a hotel or residential development was
proposed. The Strategic Plan was subsequently subjected to reviews every three years. In 1974 Council
adopted the 1974-77 Strategic Plan. This more or less coincided with the end of the Long Boom.

Despite all of this the City Council was still dependent on approvals made elsewhere. State authorities
were clearly outside Council control, which made planning and co-ordination very difficult - the Electricity
Commission, Board of Fire Commissioners, Maritime Services Board, Main Roads Department, Railways
Department, Department of Road Transport all controlled crucial aspects of Central Sydney and none
were answerable to Council. Perhaps the most graphic example of Council’s lack of control over
government-owned assets is associated with The Rocks, which was resumed by the State government in
1900. In December 1960 it offered The Rocks for sale or lease, inviting interested parties to lodge
competitive schemes for urban renewal. The whole area was suspended from the provisions of the
County of Cumberland Planning Scheme.**

Conditions of the completion included requirements for ample light, air and harbour views to the greatest
extent possible for all buildings. Most of the development area was to be devoted to residential use
(@iming for a net residential density of 300 persons per acre) but also needed to include retail space,
offices, hotels and restaurants.”® In the second half of June 1962 a number of schemes went on public
display in Martin Place.* They demonstrated the best Modern Movement practice of the day, with
freestanding towers or slab blocks and plenty of open space. The winner was the contracting firm James
Wallace Pty Ltd. Their scheme, designed by architects Edwards Madigan Torzillo Briggs, was published in
January 1964. It was based around pedestrian open space:

“The design exemplifies the modern concept of inner-city design and planning, being based on
a system of segregation of pedestrians and vehicular traffic, with high towers rising from a
podium of service and parking space, the top of which is entirely given over to pedestrian plazas
and open spaces.

The final proportion of commercial and residential space developed in the scheme fulfils the
demand of both aspects and conforms to the view expressed in the Government prospectus
that: ‘a balanced use of the area is considered to be desirable to sustain a continuous
movement of people and a feeling of life in the area’. It is also considered that, in addition to the
functional balance referred to, the relative proportions of commercial and residential space will

provide the necessary economic balance which the redevelopment of the area requires.”*®

The scheme was divided into two precincts to the north and south of Argyle Street respectively. The
northern precinct contained 13 residential apartment towers in a variety of configurations, housing some
3,500 people. The southern precinct contained four high-rise commercial buildings and a “luxury” hotel.
The two precincts were linked by pedestrian plazas on top of the podium and retailing areas extending
northwards from under the hotel. Only the Maritime Services Board Building remained, along with a
relocated Cadman's Cottage:

“It is considered that the development of the area as ‘an outstanding example of modern city
planning’ is the larger scale consideration as against the preservation of historical and

42 Redevelopment of the Rocks area: official brochure issued 1960: list of questions submitted by persons interested in
the redevelopment scheme, together with answers thereto, p.5.

“® Cross-section, Issue 96, October 1 1960

“* "New Rocks Area", The Canberra Times, 21 June 1962, p.21.

5 The Redevelopment of the Rocks Area, p.7.
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architectural features which have many more acceptable counterparts in other sections of the
City ...

Reference has been made to the Royal Australian Historical Society, The Cumberland County
Council and the Royal Australian Institute of Architects. None of these authorities consider that
any examples of particular historic or architectural merit exist in the area, except perhaps some
of possible museum interest.

It has been thought appropriate, however, that the preservation of Cadman’s Cottage and its
use as a small memorial museum of early Australian history would be of value

It is proposed to dismantle the cottage and re-erect it in the park formed at the lower end of
York Street.

This feature will form a subtle link with history without aggravating problems of physical
planning.”“

James Wallace’s proposal did not proceed, but in 1967 a revised scheme prepared by John Overall,
chairman of the National Capital Development Commission provided three residential buildings, four hotels
and motels, 14 office blocks and more than twice the retail space. It also extended the redevelopment
area south to Grosvenor Street.”” In 1968, the State government gave control of The Rocks to the Sydney
Cove Redevelopment Authority, further distancing it from Central Sydney and Council control. In the
event, redevelopment in this form did not proceed, in part because of economic conditions and in part the
emergence of a preservation movement reacting against the wholesale imposition of Modern Movement

ideals on Sydney's historic fabric and the destruction that had followed.

Figure 11 Models of two of two schemes for the redevelopment of The Rocks. The scheme at left
was a collaborative effort between Los Angeles architect Victor Gruen and local architect
Hugo Stossel for Hawker Siddeley; the scheme at right was the winning proposal by
Edwards Madigan Torzillo & Briggs for James Wallace Holdings.
Source: SLNSW, Australian Photographic Agency — 12254 and 12255.

“® The Redevelopment of the Rocks Area, p.14.
" Kate Blackmore, "A Good Idea at the Time: the redevelopment of the Rocks" in Webber, pp.129-135.
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4 PRE-WAR PRECURSORS

The editor of Decoration and Glass, observant of all that was new and up-to-date in the second half of the
1930s, was certainly not slow to observe an emerging trend:

“In residences, flats, factories, theatres, hospitals and in re-modelling an Australian adaptation of
continental modernism is gaining favour ... Here in Sydney we are beginning in lively earnest to
herald in the dawn of the future, due to the obviously good results of overseas experiments.

Some years ago, a certain designer, Burley Griffin, started a settlement of small homes
designed in a functional manner which he placed on the shores overlooking the Harbour. A
review of the effects of this venture is not within the scope of this article. Since that time public
opinion has been swinging from the revolt at first effected by the thought of the word ‘ultra
modern’ towards a reasonable and more sympathetic understanding and appreciation of those

ideas embodied behind the plan of the House of Tomorrow.”*®

The first stirrings of Modern Movement architecture in Central Sydney were evident during the 1930s. The
decorative form of Modernism known as Art Deco was imported from France and America during the
second half of the 1920s and the first local examples of the style were completed in 1929-1930. Art Deco
recast traditional architectural embellishments into a geometrically based decorative idiom instantly

identifiable as up-to-date and provided new means to modulate building massing.

Figure 12 Early Art Deco style influence in Central Sydney: the Futurist Room in Henry White’s State
Theatre in Market Street, completed in June 1929, exploited geometric pattern and bright
colours (left), while Fowell & McConnel’'s BMA House in Macquarie Street, completed in
1930, applied the stepped forms of American skyscrapers to the Sydney skyline.

Source: SLNSW, PXA 348 (Futurist Room) and ON 275 (BMA House - Samuel Wood
photograph).

Construction effectively ceased in 1930 because of the depression but began to pick up in 1933 as
economic conditions eased. Central Sydney enjoyed a minor construction boom for the next seven or so
years. It resulted in large office buildings, a handful of apartment blocks, a number of pubs and a
significant hotel, cinemas, a dance hall, shops, cafes and restaurants. While the Art Deco influence was

“8 “The House of Tomorrow is Here Today”, Decoration and Glass, Volume 1 Number 11:6, 10-11, March 1936.
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still evident, new forms appeared as architects learned about the Modern Movement, whether by reading

about it or seeing examples at first hand. Several exemplary commercial buildings were completed
between 1936 and 1940. Emil Sodersten’s City Mutual Life Assurance Company building at 66 Hunter
Street (completed in 1936) and Lipson & Kaad’s warehouse for Hoffnung & Co at 153-159 Clarence
Street (completed in 1939) combined a convincingly functional Modern Movement aesthetic with Art Deco
embellishments, while others such as Brewster & Manderson’s 44 Bridge Street (completed in 1938) and
Melbourne architects Seabrook & Fildes’ Royal Exchange Assurance at 77 Pitt Street (completed in 1937;
since modified) showed a firm grasp of Modern Movement aesthetics.

Figure 13 Emil Sodersten’s City Mutual Life Building (left), Brewster & Manderson’s 44 Bridge Street
(centre) and Seabrook & Fildes’ former Royal Exchange Assurance Building (right).
Sources: SLNSW: Home and Away — 35036, Hall & Co photograph; Home and Away —
9470, Sam Hood photograph; Decoration and Glass, July 1937, cover.

Amongst the finest Modern Movement buildings of the 1930s and 1940s in NSW were those associated
with health care, particularly the hospitals of prominent Melbourne architectural firm Stephenson & Turner,
which established a Sydney office following the construction of Gloucester House at Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital, Camperdown (completed in 1936). This was the “springboard for the firm in the hospital field in
New South Wales.”® However, only one of their landmark buildings, which included King George V
Memorial Hospital for Mothers and Babies at Camperdown (1941) and the Repatriation Hospital at
Concord (1942), was in close proximity to Central Sydney. This was the United Dental Hospital at 2
Chalmers Street, Surry Hills, the first section of which was completed in 1940. Work began on the addition
of two levels and a major addition in 1947, but as was so often to happen, work ceased for some time
because of lack of funds until 1954.%°

Education, another fundamental institution, was an important if minor facet of Central Sydney during the
interwar period. Again, few Modern Movement buildings were constructed. Fort Street Primary School on
Observatory Hill received a new building in the early 1940s while the Sydney Technical College in Ultimo
was brought up-to-date with the construction of a building for the School of Automotive Engineering
during the second half of the 1930s. Both were designed by Harry Rembert, an architect working in the

“9 John Shaw, Sir Arthur Stephenson: Australian architect (Sydney, 1987), p.56
% “Work Is Resumed On Two City projects”, Sydney Morning Herald, 26 January 1954, p.14.
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Government Architect’s Branch. Both buildings show Rembert’s debt to the architecture of Willem Dudok

- cubic masses with linear bands of windows constructed in warm toned brickwork.

Figure 14 United Dental Hospital (left), School of Automotive Engineering (top right) and Fort Street
Primary School (bottom right).
Sources: TKDA (United Dental Hospital); Roy Lumby (School of Automotive Engineering);
Russel Jack, Volume 2, p.4 (Fort Street Primary School).

The prestigious Sulman award for architecture, inaugurated by the Institute of Architects in 1932, was
awarded in 1943 to Fowell McConnel & Mansfield’s Orient Line Building at 2-6 Spring Street, Sydney,
designed in association with New Zealand-born Modern Movement architect O’Rorke. He had gone to
England in the 1930s and established a successful career that included interiors for Orient Line ships. The
interiors of the building reflected a higher level of Modern Movement character than the calm New
Empiricist exterior. They featured spirited decorative artworks by influential designer Douglas Annand,
whose work was to feature in a number of Modern Movement buildings in the 1950s and 1960s, rugs and
textiles by famous London designer Marion Dorn and fabrics by noted Melbourne designer Frances Burke.
Only the facade of the building remains today.
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Figure 15 Fowell, McConnel & Mansfield’s Orient Line Building — rendering of the Spring Street facade
and a view of the booking office. The curtain fabric at the end is by Marion Dorn.
Source: SLNSW: XV/28 — architectural renderings in the City of Sydney designed by Fowell,
Mansfield & McConnel; Home and Away — 23312, Sam Hood photograph

Central Sydney could boast one early Modern Movement garden. It was the work of celebrated expatriate
Danish landscape designer Paul Sorensen, better known for his work at Everglades in Leura (circa 1936),
which was undertaken for an executive of Feltex, Henri Van De Velde. Another of Sorensen’s gardens was
located on the roof of the 1939 Feltex House by Wright & Apperly at the intersection of George and
Jamieson Streets. Originally only three storeys high, the building was extended vertically and quite
seamlessly in the early 1960s.

Figure 16 Feltex House prior to its vertical extensions (left) and its roof garden shortly after completion
(right).
Sources: City of Sydney Archives NSCA CRS 47/2114 (Feltex House); Historic Houses
Trust image no. 32739 (roof garden), Alan Spearman Evans photograph.
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5 MODERN MOVEMENT BUILDING TYPOLOGIES IN THE CITY OF SYDNEY

The immediate post-war period was one of austerity and shortages. As far as the building industry was
concerned, demand for building products exceeded output so that government maintained wartime
controls for some years to ensure supplies were distributed to urgent industrial and domestic projects. As
conditions eased it was still necessary to initiate quotas until supplies became more widely available and
delays were the order of the day. At the beginning of the 1950s manufacturers faced a shortage of
materials and labour, especially skilled labour. The shortfall in unskilled labour was to some extent met by
migrants directed by the government to certain industries.”’

In April 1950 the Premier of NSW, James McGirr, announced that restrictions on constructing new
houses, flats, what were termed “non-licensed residentials”, hospitals, schools, and extensions to houses,
flats and non-licensed residential buildings to provide desperately needed living space for people would
be lifted. Restrictions on non-housing construction outside the area defined by Newcastle, Port Kembla
and Mt Victoria were also lifted.*® Restrictions on all building activity other than demolition were lifted in
June 1952. However, the situation remained tight for some months because of credit restrictions imposed

by the Commonwealth Government that regulated financing, ongoing scarcity of building materials and
high building costs.®

Figure 17 These aerial views of Sydney from the north, 1948 (left) and 1967 (right), graphically show
the magnitude of development and the shift in scale that took place in Central Sydney in the
post World War Il era.

Source: Sydney Region: growth & change, p.52.

" A A Raschke and R Osbiston, Seventy Years of Wunderlich Industry (Sydney, 1957), pp.11-12.
%2 “Control Of Building Operations Eased”, Sydney Morning Herald, 13 April 1950, p.1.
% “Building Activity Sharply Down”, Sydney Morning Herald, 1 August 1952, p.4.
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5.1 Office buildings

“Office work in administration, banking, insurance, and the professions, reflects the dominant and growing
functions of the city centre, which are characteristic of most metropolitan cities. It accounts for about 60%
of total employment, and is growing.” In central Sydney this was reflected in a massive boom in office
building construction, principally focussed between Circular Quay and Martin Place — “about 90% of new
buildings in the central business district over the past decade [1957-1967] have been offices or banks.”*
The office building is the dominant building typology of the study period in Central Sydney, if only because
of their scale and the numbers constructed.

No other building type mirrors the economic expansion of post-war NSW (and Australia for that matter)
than the inner city office block. They represented a prevailing mood coloured by faith in progress, growth
and development and even symbolised Australia’s growing stature on the international stage, a source of
national pride. In addition to this, they reflected the growth of the city and pressures to provide
accommodation for rapidly expanding businesses. So, as land prices rose speculation and greed also
played a part. Amongst the major players were multinational corporations, local companies and investors,
especially insurance companies. The buildings provided both sound returns and an image of forward-
thinking prestige.*

Whilst many buildings were constrained by small, land-locked sites and could only express being modern
to passers-by through the surface of the fagade, the more pure examples were free standing or otherwise
on corner sites. The new office buildings would transform city centres in many ways — loss of older
buildings, a shift from consistent harmonious streetscapes to a series of free-standing blocks, changes to
the actual physical condition of places (wind, sun and shade), shifts in the functioning of cities, changes in
the consumption of energy as buildings depended on air conditioning and artificial light, and changes to
the environment in which people worked. They also altered perceptions about what a modern city should
be.56

The construction of office buildings after World War Il did not really get underway until the early 1950s.
Before then projects were mostly confined to alterations and extensions, such as those to the 1938 Grand
United Building in Castlereagh Street, undertaken during 1947-48 (since demolished). Other examples
include 36 York Street, designed by long-established architects Robertson & Marks in 1949 for Conrick
Tomalin Ltd,*” and Douglas Snelling’s radical 1951 overhaul of the Victorian era boarding house known as
Lamington Hall at 48 Margaret Street for the Hartford Insurance Co (since demolished). According to
architect Snelling, one of Sydney’s foremost Modern Movement practitioners,

“| have no doubt ... that the most economical thing would have been to demolish the building
and put up a new one in its place ... But that was impossible because of post-war Government
restrictions on the allocation of materials for new commercial buildings. We just wouldn’t have
got the cement, steel, or bricks ... So it was decided to do a drastic remodelling job, using parts
of the old boarding-house and two old buildings at the back, which had apparently been built as
stables round an old inn courtyard.”*®

Insurance companies were to fuel much of the office building construction in Central Sydney during the
1950s and 1960s.

5 Sydney Region: growth & change, p.55.

% Jennifer Taylor, Tall Buildings: Australian business going up: 1945-1970 (Sydney, 2001), p.15.

% Tall Buildings: Australian Business Going Up, p.24

*" The building application (BA17/50) was lodged on 10 January 1950.

%8 “Dramatic Change in Lamington Hall; Old Sydney Landmark”, Sydney Morning Herald, 31 March 1953, p.11.
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Figure 18 36 York Street (left) and 48 Margaret Street (right). Their external design and claddings
hearken back to the pre-war period. The exterior of 36 York Street is clad in dichromatic
terracotta, while the ground floor of 48 Margaret Street was clad in dark toned ceramic tiles
and the horizontal upper sections in light-toned porcelain enamel steel. The small garden at
the main entrance to 48 Margaret Street was an innovative feature.

Sources: TKDA (36 York Street); Architecture, April-dune 1954, p.85 (48 Margaret Street).

The Maritime Services Board headquarters in George Street North, The Rocks (now the Museum of
Contemporary Art) was the first major post-war construction project in Sydney consisting of an entirely
new building. Even so, it had been designed in 1936 and construction did not commence until 1948; its
foundation stone wasn’t laid until 5 May 1949 and the building was officially opened by Premier Cahill on
10 December 1952.% Its appearance reflected the years between design and construction, a monumental
form of Stripped Classicism overlaid with Art Deco references.

The first major building project undertaken by private enterprise was Berger House at 82-88 Elizabeth
Street, designed by Arthur F Blackwell.*® A provisional permit was granted by Wiliam Dickson Minister for
Secondary Industries and Building Materials to City Buildings Co-operative No. 1 in September 1951 for a
15 storey building, ostensibly to help counter the acute shortage of office space in Central Sydney. One
curious condition of consent was that imported materials had to be used.”’ Possibly this was due to
locally produced materials being diverted to housing, schools and hospitals. The project faltered in
February 1953, a victim of a financial squeeze and escalating building costs, but revived several months
later under new management and different architects (Stephenson & Turner). The building was completed
around the beginning of 1955. The original external design, which provided shading for windows in the
facade, was modified and a lightweight curtain wall aesthetic appeared in Sydney for the first time:

% «Sydney Building Progress”, Building and Engineering, 24 November 1948, p.26.
% Arthur Blackwell also designed co-operative home unit blocks for Urban Co-operative Home Units around this time
& “Permit for 15-Storey Building Is Issued”, Sydney Morning Herald, 21 September 1951, p.1.
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“The original design was smart with open batten sunshades above all windows & [sic] a high-
style multiple arch entrance canopy. Now stripped for an austerity finish, it has a graph-paper

simplicity unknown on the front elevations of Australian city buildings.”62

A near contemporary, the Harvey Trinder Building at 267 George Street, was a bit more substantial but
just as minimal. This slender 11 storey steel-framed structure was designed by D Forsyth Evans for a firm
of insurance brokers in 1952 and completed in March 1954. Its facade consisted of alternating bands of
bronze-framed windows and texture brick spandrels. The building was finished to a high standard; it has
since been demolished.®

In some ways Modern Movement architecture after World War Il is encapsulated by tall office buildings
sheathed in a taut skin of aluminium and glass. They reflect a very specific American influence, where the
refinements of the glazed curtain wall became evident during the 1940s. Buildings such as Pietro
Belluschi’'s 1948 Equitable Building in Portland, Oregon, and Skidmore, Owings & Merril’'s1952 Lever
House in New York are associated with the corporatisation of Modern Movement architecture. According
to architectural historian Jennifer Taylor,

“It is not surprising that this building type evolved in America. The arrival in America Immediately
before the war of European architectural pioneers of the 1920s and 1930s, including Mies van
der Rohe, brought the innovative spatial constructs of modern architecture, including the open
plan, the notion of the universal solution, and the visionary dreams of the glass worlds of
expressionist thought, into the land of building technology and capital ... The emergence of this
new and distinct type was also dependent on the technological advances in services, especially
those for vertical transportation, fire fighting, temperature and air-flow control. This combination
produced a building type which unquestionably gave rise to the most typical, innovative and
expressive building form of the 20" century. Aesthetically, in their purest expression, such
buildings were viewed as objects to be seen in the round, and characterised by their divorce
from the fabric of the city, ideally rising from podiums of three or four levels or standing in open

plazas.”

The combination of three inventions — air conditioning, fluorescent lighting and suspended ceiling systems
- made the post-war office building a possibility, underscoring reliance on technology to provide a
comfortable working environment. Air conditioning and fluorescent lighting were introduced to Sydney’s
office buildings during the 1930s. The first air conditioned office buildings, Railway House in York Street
and the City Mutual Life Building in Bligh Street, were completed during 1936. Fluorescent lighting was
installed in the ground floor showroom and display windows of Feltex House, completed during 1939.%°
Although proprietary acoustic ceiling tiles were being installed in Sydney office buildings from the second
half of the 1930s, the potential to use the cavity between a suspended ceiling and floor slab was not
generally realised — for instance, electrical installations were placed below timber floors installed over floor
slabs, although air conditioning supply ducts were mostly carried in suspended ceilings above corridors.

Better and cheaper systems of air conditioning, the reduced thermal output of fluorescent lights that
reduced heat loading on air conditioning systems, and proprietary suspended ceiling systems, that

2 Cross-section, Issue 17, March 1 1954,

% City of Sydney Archives BA 1364/52, lodged 20 October 1952; “Office Block Finished In George St.”, Sydney
Morning Herald, 16 March 1954, p.11.

® Tall Buildings, p.22.

® “Feltex House”, Decoration and Glass, August 1939, p.19
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achieved definitive form in America during the second half of the 1940s gave new freedom to architects.®
The Harvey Trinder Building was fully air conditioned and illuminated with fluorescent lighting. Suspended
ceiling systems seemed to take a bit longer to infiltrate the market, though by mid-decade metal pan
modular systems were being manufactured locally®” and concealed services were being installed in major

office buildings — the Commonwealth Bank Building in Market Street, completed in 1956, was totally fitted
out with Wunderlich Acoustic Metal Ceilings concealing air conditioning ducts and incorporating
fluorescent lighting troughs.*®

Figure 19 82-88 Elizabeth Street was to be named after J K Morley, secretary of City Buildings Co-
operative No 1 and Urban Co-operative Multi-Home Units (left). What turned into
Stephenson & Turner’s Berger House presented the lightweight metal and glass curtain
wall to Sydney for the first time (left, centre). By way of contrast, Harvey Trinder’'s new
building alternated bands of windows with brickwork (right).
Source: Sydney Morning Herald, 10 November 1951, p.5; TKDA; SLNSW, Australian
Photographic Agency — 18122).

Glass technology certainly helped to make the lightweight curtain wall systems more palatable. Anti actinic
glass, which reduced the impacts of ultra-violet radiation, had been around since the 1920s and was
being marketed in Australia during the mid 1930s. Australian Glass Manufacturers’ “Coldite” is one
example. A system of double glazing known as “Thermopane” was developed in America during World
War II. Here the air between the two layers of glass was dehydrated and sealed, resulting in thermal and
acoustic benefits. Local manufacture under license began in the early 1950s. The curtain wall on Berger
House was made in Australia by Dowell Aluminium Windows Pty Ltd. It was prefabricated in square 2.7
metre units in Melbourne and shipped to Sydney. Each unit contained three windows fitted with anti-

e Reyner Banham, The Architecture of the Well-tempered Environment, pp.54 and 218.

" Susan Bures, The House of Wunderiich, p.140. According to Bures, "In the mid-1959s Wunderlich introduced metal
acoustic ceiling panels produced to fit either a drop pan or concealed grid system."

% “Wunderlich Acoustic Metal Ceilings in New Commonwealth Bank Building, Sydney”, Building, Lighting &
Engineering, November 24 1956, p.59.
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actinic glass (James Sandy’s “Thermosal”), with an aluminium spandrel backed by fire-resistant gypsum.
The spandrels reflected recent innovations in regulations, which now permitted lightweight fire protection
systems. The Commonwealth Bank Building relied on its spandrels to provide fire protection. There was
no masonry behind the curtain wall — instead, the aluminium panels were sprayed with limpet asbestos
enclosed with an aluminium facing sheet with an impressed stucco finish.”

Figure 20 American precedent and local response: Skidmore Owings & Merrill's Lever House in New
York (completed in 1952, left), Stephenson & Turner’s Unilever House at Circular Quay
(designed in 1955, centre) and Thompson, Spooner & Dixon’s Phoenix House at the corner
of Bridge and Pitt Streets (designed in 1956).
Sources: Lever House: www.postalesinventadis.com; Unilever: National Archives image
number J2669, 419; Phoenix House: City of Sydney Archives SRC10117.

During the first half of 1954 £3.5 million worth of building works were approved. This was greater than in
any previous comparable period — the total for 1953 was £5.5 million.”® An unprecedented number of
office buildings reflecting the latest technology, finishes, style and structural systems rose over the next
fifteen or so years. By now large teams of consultants were involved in their design — apart from the
architect there were mechanical, structural, hydraulics and lighting engineers, along with quantity
surveyors.

During the second half of the 1950s and first half of the 1960s construction was focussed in the northern
part of Sydney. Curtain wall-clad towers continued to be built in some quantity until the mid 1960s and
lingered sporadically into the second half of the 1970s.

Caltex House at 167-187 Kent Street, designed by architect Eric Nicholls (who had been a partner in
Walter and Marion Giriffin’s practice), marked the emergence of developer Civil & Civic as a force to be
reckoned with. The building was approved by the City Council in June 1955 and completed in October
1957. It has been modified beyond recognition. By the standards of the day it was a large structure,
designed to accommodate 435 cars on lower levels and 2,000 persons above. It was notable for its

89 “Aluminium Curtain Walls by Chubb’s Australian Co Ltd”, Building, Lighting & Engineering, November 24, 1956, p.58.
7° Cross-section, Issue 22, August 1 1954,
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reinforced construction, which consisted of flat plate floor slabs that allowed speedy construction, while
the absence of beams allowed the insertion of an additional floor while maintaining compliance with the
statutory height restriction then in force. Reinforced concrete framing was not common in Sydney at this
time and the vast majority of large city buildings were steel framed. Construction was rapid, one floor
completed every 12 days, with external claddings and air conditioning ducts following three floors below
the pouring of new concrete slabs. The sun was taken into account and slender hoods were installed
above the continuous bands of windows across three sides of the building.71

On the other side of town Hans Peter Oser’s Medical and Dental Building (the Wiliam Bland Centre) at
229-231 Macquarie Street was designed during 1956 and introduced a shining and colourful note to the
staid environs of Macquarie Street. Indeed, some found colour to be one of the less attractive
opportunities of the curtain wall. Architect Stephen Mansfield disdained the “lesser breed which sports
violently coloured spandrels."72 One was the Phoenix Assurance Building in Bridge Street (Lindsay
Thompson, Spooner & Dixon, 1958; demolished), which added a lively splash of vivid red to the
streetscape. Nearby, Melbourne architects Bernard Evans & Associates designed the slender mid-block
building for London Assurance, which extended between Bridge and Dalley Streets (completed in 1959;
demolished). Its curtain walls were graced with blue spandrels on the north side of the building and red
spandrels on the south. ™
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Figure 21 Caltex House shortly after completion viewed from the east (left) and detail of the facade of
the William Bland Centre in Macquarie Street (right).
Sources: Caltex House — City of Sydney SRC4109; William Bland Centre — Roy Lumby.

One of Mansfield’s favourites, Qantas House at 68-96 Hunter Street, was designed by Rudder Littlemore
& Rudder around 1953 and officially opened by Prime Minister Menzies on 28 October 1957. It was an
instant hit:

“The Qantas Building has something: there is no doubt about that! It has captured the public’s
imagination, and talk to anyone about recent new buildings that have been completed in
Sydney and nine out of ten will say: ‘The Qantas Building is a beautiful building.’

™ Murphy, pp. 22-27.

" Mansfield, p.104.

" Building, Lighting and Engineering, 24 January 1959, p.45; Cross-section, Issue 74, December 1 1958. Construction
was supervised by local architect Peter Priestley.

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects January 2018 e Issue C 31



Modern Movement in Central Sydney e Heritage Study Review

Apart from the excellence of its design, the reason for this is not hard to find. It is the grace of
the curve which gives Qantas Building a facade unique in Australia and confers upon it an
obvious advantage over other buildings, which have to rely for their appeal upon rectangular
street facades, which, no matter how skilfully handled have a certain uniformity of pattern and

»74

silhouette.

The ground floor sills and columns of the building were clad in granite. Above, the entire facade was
glazed in anti-actinic glass supported in aluminium frames, with extruded aluminium “aerofoil profile”
mullions. A sweeping, upwardly curved cantilevered canopy over the main entrance to the booking hall
hinted at the exhilaration of flight. The double height booking hall followed the curve of the building
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Figure 22 Qantas House in 1958, photographed by Wolfgang Sievers (left) and the official opening of
the building within the major booking hall, 28 October 1957.
Sources: NLA, image no. Nla.pic-an14156207-2-v; SLNSW, Australian Photographic
Agency — 04228.

Two major curtain-walled buildings, since demolished, were completed in 1957-58 at Circular Quay. ICI
House was designed by Melbourne architects Bates Smart & McCutcheon in association with locals
Stafford Moor & Farrington and completed in 1957. Its steel framed structure was clad in a sleek
aluminium framed curtain wall with vitreous enamel steel in combination with coloured fused ceramic glass
on the east and west sides. Interiors were only protected by aluminium venetian blinds between the layers
of glass in the double glazed windows. Admittedly the external skin of glass was heat absorbing, to
reduce glare, and the building was fitted out with a low velocity air conditioning system. The building was,
however, blessed with artworks — Eric Smith’s abstract mosaic mural in the entrance vestibule and lift
foyer, which was also enhanced by large leafed indoor plants (“the use of indoor plants has become very
popular with modern designers and they have been used extensively in a number of new buildings that

" “Qantas Building, Sydney”, Building, Lighting & Engineering, 24 December 1957, p.27.
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have been recently completed in Sydney."75 Demountable internal office partitions and internal services
were based on a 900 millimetre module.

Unilever House, designed by Stephenson & Turner during 1955, was completed at the beginning of 1958
and is regarded by some as Sydney’s first major curtain walled office block as well as its most visually
pure example.76 It too relied on glazing, in this case tinted blue, and venetian blinds to diminish the impact
of the sun shining on its exceptionally glassy exterior. The building was unusual in that columns were set
three metres back from external walls, supported off cantilevered beams from which the curtain wall was
supported. A high level of employee amenity was provided: a restaurant; health centre; library; bank
branch; kiosk; barber’s shop; and washrooms with showers and cloakrooms.”

One of the most significant events in Central Sydney during the 1950s was the abolition of the 1912 height
limit of 45.72 metres in 1957. Caltex House already exceeded the restriction due to a technicality resulting
from the differences in levels across the site. In the first quarter of 1956 the height limit was contested by
two applications — a building 62 metres high in Kent Street designed by J M Brindley and a building 71.6
metres high for the Commonwealth Government in Phillip Street.”® At the beginning of 1957 the AMP
Society applied to the Chief Secretary for permission to exceed the height limit. Peddle Thorp & Walker
had already designed a building 76.2 metres in height for the Society’s site at Circular C)uay.79 Consent
was duly given, and the transformation of Central Sydney could now begin.

The AMP Building at Circular Quay stirred up a great deal of public debate because of its height relative to
Circular Quay and because of its curved facades. The building embodied the most modern technology
available and was intended to cope with AMP’s expansion over a 50 year period. It had a steel frame
encased in concrete and cellular steel deck floors sprayed with a fire resistant material. The central
circulation and services core allowed clear space around the building’s perimeter and helped it resist wind
loads. Electronically programmed lifts moved people efficiently in peak periods. Spandrels in the aluminium
framed curtain walls were fabricated out of heat-treated glass with gold dust fused into the back, while
windows were double glazed with a system that made extensive use of neoprene gaskets and
polysulphide liquid polymer compounds. Of course, the building was fully air-conditioned, but the inclusion
of AMP’s new computer imposed special requirements on the system. NSW’s first free-standing
skyscraper symbolised the AMP Society’s wealth and prestige. It was the tallest building in Australia, with
an immensely popular roof-top observation deck offering people a new vision of Sydney.

Metal and glass curtain walls retained popularity until the mid 1960s, but changes in building technology,
especially that of glass, meant that a resurgence in their use took place in the following decades. Just how
different this new generation could be from the pioneering efforts is demonstrated by the building at 263-
273 Clarence Street, designed in 1971 by ltalian architect Mario Arnaboldi.** The stainless steel and
laminated glass glazing system was exploited for its artistic possibilities, dramatically breaking with the
traditional gridded aesthetic.

78 4.C.I House, Sydney”, Building, Lighting and Engineering, 25 November 1957, p.25; Frank Clune, Saga of Sydney,
p.125.

"® Richard Apperly and Peter Lind, 444 Sydney Buildings (Sydney, 1971), p.13; Taylor, Australian Business Going Up,
p.49.

" Clune, p.133.

"8 Cross-section, Issue 41, March 1 1956.

" Cross-section, Issue 53, March 1 1957.

% DA 810/71 was lodged by D M Ashton on 8 December 1971. He lodged the BA with Council the following June.
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Figure 23 Two bold curtain walls: the gentle arc of the AMP Building (left) and the decorative
geometries of 263-273 Clarence Street.
Sources: SLNSW, PXA 907 Box 15, Erm McQuillan photograph (AMP); TKDA (263-273
Clarence Street).

However, even in the 1950s the vogue for the aluminium and glass curtain wall was accompanied by
resistance on the part of some architects and their clients in recognition of its shortcomings. Stone and
other solid claddings maintained some popularity. Construction of the Port Line Building at 48-54 Young
Street, designed by Fowell Mansfield & Maclurcan in association with Brian O’Rorke, commenced early in
1956 (the building has since been demolished).®' Its fagade featured a wealth of stone that included
sandstone, marble, slate and trachyte. The plan had an unusual configuration for the time. Above the
ground floor level it took the form of an H, with a wide central section being recessed back from the street
line. The structure, designed by engineers Woolacott, Hale & Bond, was also unusual. Steel columns were
fitted with octagonal brackets below floor slabs and linked to the slab soffits by concrete capitals. The
capitals stiffened the junction of column and slab, resulting in a thin slab that gave greater depth for air
conditioning ductwork.® The Northern Assurance Building at 13-15 O’Connell Street by Spencer, Hanson
& Partners (completed in 1958; since demolished) also made extensive use of stone, combining marble,
granite and sandstone along with blue glazed ceramic tiles. The architects maintained that “a look of

permanence is achieved by using traditional methods of construction.”®

¥ The architects lodged DA 425/52 on 30 July 1952. A subsequent DA was lodged by Port Line Ltd on 2 April 1953 for
the demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a new building. BA 2043/54 was finally lodged on 8 December
1954.

% “The Port Line Building, 50 Young Street, Sydney. Modern Interpretation of Traditional Architecture”, Building,
Lighting and Engineering, 25 August 1958, pp.23-25.

% Cross-section, Issue 74, December 1 1958,
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Figure 24 The 3 buildings at 105-113 Pitt Street demonstrate the tendency towards masonry and
precast claddings during the 1960s: the base of 109-113 Pitt Street, designed in 1960 by
Rudder Littlemore & Rudder (left), 107 Pitt Street, designed for Western Assurance by
McConnel Smith & Johnson in 1958 (centre) and 105 Pitt Street, designed for the
Commonwealth Bank by J A & P Kerr in 1965/66 (right).
Source: NAA image no. A1200, L79768.

Stephenson & Turner’s Temple House at 21 Bent Street, designed for Legal & General Insurance in 1956,
was a moderately radical departure. Its exterior was a grid of beams and columns with windows and
glazed terracotta block spandrels set back between them (since modified). McConnel Smith & Johnson'’s
Kindersley House, stretching between O’Connell and Bligh Streets and designed in 1957, featured a lot of
external stone across its well-proportioned exterior — travertine cladding, granite on ground floor columns
and reconstructed granite spandrels. It was the tallest building constructed by the lift-slab technique in the
world at that time and introduced innovative shallow loggias by recessing the ground floor on both
facades, then linked both streets with a pedestrian link through the building. Bunning & Madden’s
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exemplary Liner House at 13-15 Bridge Street, designed in 1958, clung to the curtain wall but tempered it
with louvred sun hoods shading windows, reducing air conditioning costs and helping window cleaners.
Its structure allowed maximum clear internal space. The building won the 1961 Sulman Medallion, a
reflection of its architectural quality.

\

Figure 25 Temple House shortly after completion (left) and details of modifications to facades (centre);
Liner House, which is substantially more intact (right).
Sources: SLNSW Government Printing Office 2 — 19595; TKDA.

However, really serious efforts to control the impacts of the sun were made at this time. Central Sydney’s
first was probably Harry Seidler’s building for Associated General Publications at 398-402 Sussex Street,
Sydney, designed in 1954 and the architect’s first office building. The west-facing fagade was constructed
with a reinforced column and floor slab structure (no beams). Full storey-height adjustable vertical
aluminium blades were installed between exposed floor slab edges, in front of the recessed windows.
Seidler would have encountered this type of response while working with Oscar Niemeyer, who was
involved with Le Corbusier on the 1936-1943 Ministry of Education and Health Building in Rio de Janeiro.
This was an acclaimed Modern Movement office block with adjustable horizontal louvres between vertical
concrete screens to block the sun.®

Seidler refined his approach with Lend Lease House at 47-53 Macquarie Street, designed in 1959 (since
demolished) Here adjustable external horizontal louvres were fitted to each bay of windows across the
eastern and western facades, allowing the random pattern of adjustments to form constantly changing
patterns. The pragmatic structure of the building consisted of two rows of internal columns and flat floor
slabs, with stairs, lifts and service areas at each end of the long building. This gave largely unencumbered

% The earliest example of this type of sun control in the City of Sydney may be the National Cash Register Building at
622-632 Harris Street, which was designed by architect Herbert Woodhouse in 1952. It featured fixed vertical
aluminium “fins’” extending through two storeys on one facade facing north west to protect interiors from afternoon
sun.
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